IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jul 26 2021

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Clifton Newman, The Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV
Lexington County

Trial Court Case No.: 2017CP3202204

ARM Quality Builders LLC d/b/a, ARM Quality Builders..... Appellant.

v.

Joseph A. Golson and Lycia B. Golson and Branch Banking and Trust Company.. Respondents.

Joseph A. Golson and Lycia B. Golson.....Third-Party Respondents.


v.

Ahmad Mazloom..... Third-Party Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2020-001406

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT AND THIRD-PARTY APPELLANT

DAVIS | FRAWLEY, LLC
140 East Main Street, P.O. Box 489

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO PROPERLY SERVE THE MECHANIC'S LIEN ON THE RESPONDENTS PURSUANT TO SC CODE ANN. §29-5-90?
2. DID THE COURT ERR IN GRANTING THE MOTION TO DISMISS MECHANIC'S LIEN AS TO THE TIMELY FILING OF THE 90-DAY STATUTORY FILING PERIOD?
3. DID THE COURT ERR IN AWARDING THE RESPONDENT ATTORNEY'S FEES BASED ON DISMISSAL OF MECHANIC'S LIEN?
4. DID THE COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THERE IS NO EXTRA CONTRACTUAL WORK DONE BY APPELLANT TO CONFIRM RESPONDENTS OWED APPELLANT \$55,084.33?
5. DID THE COURT ERR IN ITS FINDING THAT THE PROVEN PROJECT COSTS OF THE APPELLANT WAS ONLY \$284,525.70 IN ITS FINDING OF FACT NUMBER 193?
6. DID THE COURT ERR IN ITS FINDING ON THAT PUNITIVE DAMAGES SHOULD BE AWARDED AGAINST THE APPELLANT AND THIRD-PARTY APPELLANT?
7. DID THE COURT ERR IN ALLOWING THE ATTORNEYS FEES AWARDED UNDER THE MECHANIC'S LIEN CASE BEING SPECIAL DAMAGES IN THE SLANDER OF TITLE ACTION?
8. DID THE COURT ERR IN ALLOWING DOUBLE RECOVERY FOR DAMAGES AGAINST THE APPELLANT AND THIRD-PARTY APPELLANT?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from a case tried by a judge in an action at law, “the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge’s findings.” *Townes Assocs.*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 733; *Alexander’s Land Co., L.L.C. v. M & M & K Corp.*, 390 S.C. 582, 703 S.E.2d 207 (2010); *Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Rollison*, 378 S.C. 600, 663 S.E. 2d 484 (2008).

In an action in equity tried by a judge, the appellate court has the authority to find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Townes Assocs.*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 73; see *Goldman*, 369 S.C. 462, 632 S.E.1d 850; *Doe v. Clark*, 318 S.C. 274, 457 S.E.2d 336 (1995); *Lowcountry Open Land Trust v. Charleston S. Univ.*, 376 S.C. 399, 656 S.E.2d 775 (Ct. App. 2008).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 15, 2017, the Appellant filed a Summons, Complaint and Lis Pendens against the Respondents which alleged Breach of Contract, Foreclosure of Mechanic’s Lien, Violation of SC Code Ann. §29-6-10, et seq., quasi-contract, quantum meruit, and unjust enrichment. (R. Vol. I, pp. 136-152) The Respondents filed a timely Answer and Counterclaim. (R. Vol. I, pp. 153-163) On May 16, 2018, the Respondents filed a Motion to Amend their Answer to assert certain counterclaims and Third-Party Complaint. On July 5, 2018 the Court granted the Respondents’ Motion to Amend and Third-Party Complaint. (R. Vol I, p. 7) On July 9, 2018, the Respondents filed a Third-Party Summons, Amended Answer and Third-Party Complaint of Respondents Joseph A. Golson and Lycia B. Golson wherein they named Ahmad Mazloom as a Third-Party Defendant. (R. Vol. I, pp. 234-253) Subsequently thereto, the Appellant and Third-Party Appellant Ahmad Mazloom filed a timely Answer. (R. Vol I, pp. 254-253) The

Appellant/Third-Party Appellant filed a Motion to Dismiss/Dissolve the Mechanics Lien filed by the Appellant by Motion dated August 15, 2018. (R. Vol. I, pp. 257-264) On September 10, 2018, the Appellant/Third-Party Appellant filed an Affidavit of Attorney's Fees with supporting Affidavits of Joseph A. Golson and Lycia B. Golson which were filed on September 13, 2018. (R. Vol. I, pp. 264-267) On November 27, 2018, The Honorable Clifton B. Newman issued his Order on the said Motions granting the motion to dissolve the mechanic's lien and dismissal of the mechanic's lien foreclosure cause of action. (R. Vol. I, pp. 63-75) On December 7, 2018, the Appellant and Third-Party Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider pursuant to SCRCP Rule 52(b) and 59(h). On May 20, 2019, the Court issued its Order denying Appellant and Third-Party Appellant's Motion to Reconsider. (R. Vol. I, pp.76-78) In The Honorable Clifton B. Newman's Order of November 27, 2018, he determined "Defendants are entitled to an award of attorney's fees as the prevailing party." (R. Vol. I, p. 73, lines 6-7) On May 30, 2019, the Appellant and Third-Party Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider the attorney's fees awarded in the amount of \$25,000 to the Respondents in this action. On August 16, 2019, the Court denied said Motion to Reconsider but stated no grounds for said denial. (R. Vol. I, p. 81) On December 18-20, 2019 a non-jury bench trial was held in this matter and on August 7, 2020, The Honorable Walton J. McLeod issued his Order awarding judgment against the Appellant and Third-Party Appellant. (R. Vol. II and III, p. 456-1100; R. Vol. I, pp. 130-132) Thereafter, on August 17, 2020 the Appellant and Third-Party Appellant filed a motion to reconsider the Order of The Honorable Walton J. McLeod (R. Vol. I, pp. 130-132) and Judge McLeod filed his Order denying the same on September 18, 2020. R. Vol. I, pp. 133-135) Thereafter, the Appellant and Third-Party Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal to appeal this matter to the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

ARGUMENT I

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO PROPERLY SERVE THE MECHANIC'S LIEN ON THE RESPONDENTS PURSUANT TO SC CODE ANN. §29-5-90.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Honorable Clifton Newman ruled in his Order that:

1. A lien claimant is required to serve a copy of the lien on the property owner or the lien is automatically dissolved. *S. C. Code Ann.* § 29-5-90. (R. Vol I, p. 73)
2. In Judge Newman's footnote 3 on page 9 of his Order, he indicates that S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-90 does not specify a manner of service. (R. Vol. I, p. 71)
3. The purpose of requiring service of notice of the mechanic's lien is to advise a property owner of the existence of the lien and to afford him or her an opportunity to investigate the claim and determine its validity. (R. Vol. I, p. 69)
4. Because lien statutes are in derogation of common law, they should be construed against lien claimants. (R. Vol. I, p. 67)
5. Respondents retained E. Wade Mullins for the purpose of facilitating a pre-litigation resolution between the parties. (R. Vol. I, p. 64)

The Honorable Clifton Newman's Order should be reversed for the following reasons.

1. Judge Newman does not cite any South Carolina case which indicates that not providing the affidavit of the sheriff or his deputy is a fatal defect in service.
2. Judge Newman acknowledges that the statute does not specify the manner of service on the property owner. (R. Vol. I, p. 71, footnote 3)
3. *Clo-Car Trucking Co., Inc. v. Clifflue Estates of South Carolina, Inc.*, 282 S.C. 573, 575-76, 320 S.E.2d 51, 53 (Ct. App. 1984), states "we believe the rule in this State is that mechanic's lien statutes, being remedial, are to be given a liberal construction" and "[E]ven

though [we] follow[] the view that the mechanic's lien law is to be construed in a most liberal and comprehensive manner in favor of lien claimants, a claim may not be sustained when that can be done only by a forced and unnatural interpretation of the language of the statute..." The Courts have also ruled "Minor imperfections and mistakes in the complaint or petition to foreclose a lien do not affect its validity." *Wood v. Hardy*, 235 S.C 131, 110 S.E.2d 157 (1959). (R. Vol. I, p. 3)

The applicable service statute reads as follows:

Such a lien shall be dissolved unless the person desiring to avail himself thereof, within ninety days after he ceases to labor on or furnish labor or materials for such building or structure, serves upon the owner or, in the event the owner cannot be found, upon the person in possession and files in the office of the register of deeds or clerk of court of the county in which the building or structure is situated a statement of a just and true account of the amount due him, with all just credits given, together with a description of the property intended to be covered by the lien sufficiently accurate for identification, with the name of the owner of the property, if known, which certificate shall be subscribed and sworn to by the person claiming the lien or by someone in his behalf and shall be recorded in a book kept for the purpose by the register or clerk who shall be entitled to the same fees therefor as for recording mortgages of equal length. Provided, that in the event neither the owner nor the person in possession can be located after diligent search, and this fact is verified by affidavit of the sheriff or his deputy, the lien may be preserved by filing the statement together with the affidavit. The delivery on the register or clerk for filing, as provided in this section, shall be and constitute the delivery contemplated with regard to such liens in Title 30 of this Code. (R. Vol. I, p. 4)

Firstly, Respondents have complied with the statute completely, with the exception of the affidavit from the sheriff's department, as discussed below. The process server for the Appellant went to Respondents' residence on two occasions, not one as the Court indicates, and the process server by sworn statement, indicated he taped notice of the Mechanic's Lien on the front door of the Respondents' residence.

The above underlined portion of the statute in question is the “underlined” portion. Appellants argue that the reading of the underlined portion of the statute indicates that if you cannot locate the property owner, after a diligent search, you can utilize the affidavit from the sheriff or a deputy. There was no issue as to the location of the Respondents at the time of the service based on the deposition of the Respondent Joseph Golson indicating that they had moved into the residence in 2017 and the 2017 Lexington County Tax Bill showed that the Respondents were the owners of this property. (R. Vol. IV, p. 1756)

Respondents, at the time of the service, retained an attorney who was acting on their behalf and full disclosure of the lien was given to him a few days after the attempted service on the Respondents. The retaining of counsel for the Respondents was done prior to the attempted service date of May 9, 2017. Although mechanic’s liens are purely statutory, and the requirements of the statute must be strictly followed, our courts have recognized that the laws of agency apply to the statutes controlling the creation and perfection of mechanic’s lien. *Hodge v. First Federal Sav. And Loan Ass’n*, 267 S.C. 270, 274-75, 227 S.E.2d 310, 312 (1976). Attorneys are recognized in this State as agents for their clients. *DeBerry v. McCain*, 275 S.C. 569, 274 S.E.2d 293 (1981).

ARGUMENT II

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTION TO DISMISS MECHANIC’S LIEN AS TO THE TIMELY FILING OF THE 90-DAY STATUTORY FILING PERIOD.

The Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss did not raise an issue as to whether the mechanic’s lien was filed after the expiration of the ninety (90) day statutory filing period. Reviewing the second page of the Respondents’ Motion indicates that it is based on the Affidavit of Non-Service filed with the Notice of Mechanic’s Lien by the Appellant and Third-Party Appellant,

no money was owed to the Appellant and Third-Party Appellant and that Appellant and Third-Party Appellant did not satisfy the requirements of SC Code Ann. §29-5-10 which deals with those type materials and labor that you can file for a Mechanic's Lien.

Appellants, prior to the Motion to Dismiss being heard, indicated that they were relying on Appellant and Third-Party Appellant's Notice of Mechanic's Lien and documents attached thereto as well as the Affidavit of Non-Service and SC Code Ann. §29-5-10. Appellant and Third-Party Appellant provided their Brief and accompanying material to the Court prior to the Motion being heard. Respondents' Motion to Dismiss that if they were going to provide any supporting affidavits, etc., it would be served pursuant to Rule 56, prior to the hearing, which no additional materials were provided prior to the hearing.

Appellant filed a Brief, with accompanying documents, in response to Respondents' supporting material. Documents submitted by the Appellant included the following: (1) Notice of Mechanic's Lien which has been referenced above along with Verification signed by the owner of the Appellant company, Amhad Mazloom, indicating that the document attached to the Verification showed a balance of money owed to the Appellant in the amount \$55,085.52, dated February 11, 2017 (R. Vol. I, pp. 136-152,); (2) Notice of Mechanic's Lien was the legal description for the Respondents' property which has a property address of 207 Libby Ariail Lane, Chapin, SC; (3) an Affidavit of Non-Service dated May 11, 2017 signed by a Brian Setree, a process server, indicating that an attempted service of the Notice of Certificate of Mechanic's Lien, Exhibits A and B, on the Respondents, on May 11, 2017, but was unsuccessful due to the residence being unoccupied (R. Vol I, p. 1767); (4) an Affidavit from the same process server indicating that he had attempted serve on the Respondents at their home place on two different occasions and on the last occasion, May 9, 2017, he had posted the

Notice of Mechanic's Lien and ancillary documents on the front door of the house by taping the items to the door; (5) pages of the deposition of the Respondent, Joseph A. Golson were provided which indicates that Mr. Golson had testified in his deposition that he and his wife had moved into the residence in January 2017 and that address was their residence and that they had claimed this property as their legal residence for tax purposes with the County of Lexington and a Certificate of Occupancy had been issued for them to move into the house in January 2017 (R. Vol. IV, pp. 1747-1755); (6) the legal residence document from Lexington County for the Respondents' house for the year 2017 (R. Vol. IV, p. 1756); and (7) documentation that on May 15, 2017, copies of the Notice of Mechanic's Lien document and accompanying documentation was sent to counsel for the Respondents which counsel had been retained by the Respondents on this specific issue (R. Vol. IV, pp. 1761-1766).

No additional information was requested by the Court on this matter and if any additional information was sent, it was not on a motion basis or with the Court's consent.

An application to the court for an order shall be by motion which, unless made during a hearing or trial in open court with a court reporter present, shall be made in writing, shall state with particularity the grounds therefor, and shall set forth the relief or order sought. The requirement of writing is fulfilled if the motion is stated in a written notice of the hearing of the motion. SCRCP Rule 7(b)(1).

Appellant and Third-Party Appellant contends that the Motion to Dismiss should be limited to those matters which are actually presented in the Motion to Dismiss and not matters that were beyond documentation filed with the Court.

ARGUMENT III

THE COURT ERRED IN AWARDING THE RESPONDENT ATTORNEY'S FEES BASED ON DISMISSAL OF MECHANIC'S LIEN

On May 20, 2019, The Honorable Clifton Newman issued his Order granting the Respondents attorney's fees in the amount of \$25,000.00. (R. Vol. I, pp. 76-78) The Order states "The Court, having considered the Amended Affidavit of Attorney's Fees and Costs of Defendant Joseph A. Golson and Lycia B. Golson, the Fee Transaction Report, and the nature and extent of the professional services rendered, awards counsel for the Defendant attorney's fees in the amount of \$25,000." (R. Vol I, p. 77)

In *Keeney's Metal Roofing, Inc. v. Palmieri*, 345 S.C. 550, 548 S.E.2d 900 (2001), the Court held "a party may recover attorney's fees and costs under § 29-5-20(A) as a 'prevailing party' even though the party obtained a dismissal via a procedural rule, provided the dismissal was not due to [a] mere technicality." See also, *EFCO v. Renaissance of Charleston Harbor, LLC*, 370 S.C. 612, 635 S.E.2d 922.

Also, it was noted in *Keeney* that "although Appellants were dismissed pursuant to a procedural rule, the dismissal was not on a mere technicality. Instead, Appellants prevailed because, as a matter of law, they could not be held liable for the damages Keeney sought under any circumstance.

For legal and factual reasons hereinafter stated, Appellant believes that this case falls within the "technicality" provision of the prevailing party rule. See Argument I above.

"As a general rule, attorney's fees are not recoverable unless authorized by contract or statute." Id. At 553-54, 548 S.E.2d at 902. Accordingly, attorney's fees are available for only those fees incurred by Respondents in defending against the lien. See *Utilities Const. Co., Inc. v. Wilson*, 468 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 1996) (finding the circuit court abuse its discretion by

awarding attorney's fees for defending against breach of contract and unjust enrichment causes of action included in the mechanic's lien foreclosure action).

Our Court has found an abuse of discretion as to the amount of the attorney fee award and remand to the trial court for the entry of an award based upon the time Wilson's counsel spent in defending the mechanic's lien cause of action only. *Utilities Const. Co., Inc. v. Wilson*, 468 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 1996).

The circuit court abused its discretion by awarding attorney's fees for work done outside the scope of defending against the mechanic's lien. See *Keeney's Metal Roofing, Inc. v. Palmieri*, 345 S.C. 550, 553, 548 S.E.2d 900, 901 (Ct. App. 2001).

Cedar Creek Props., 320 S.C. at 487, 465 S.E.2d at 776 (stating the amount of attorney fees should be limited to those actions specifically involving the mechanic's lien.

When an award of attorney's fees is requested and authorized by contract or statute, the court should make specific findings of fact on the record for each factor set forth in *Collins v. Collins*, 239 S.C. 170, 122 S.E.2d 1 (1961)]." *Blumberg v. Nealco, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 492, 494, 427 S.E.2d 659, 661 (1993). There are six factors to consider in determining an award of attorney's fees; 1) nature, extent, and difficulty of the legal services rendered, 2) time and labor devoted to the case, 3) professional standing of counsel, 4) contingency of compensation, 5) fee customarily charged in the locality for similar services, and 6) beneficial results obtained. On appeal an award of attorney's fees will be affirmed so long as sufficient evidence in the record supports each factor. *Seabrook Island Prop. Owners' Ass'n v. Berger*, 365 S.C. 234, 616 S.E.2d 431 (Ct. App. 2005).

This case was filed on June 15, 2017. Appellant had the following causes of action: Breach of Contract; Foreclosure of Mechanic's Lien; Violation of South Carolina Code §29-6-10,

et seq.; Quasi-Contract; Quantum Meruit; and Unjust Enrichment. The amount in controversy was \$55,000.00, plus attorney's fees and interest. There were interrogatories and request to produce in this case by both parties, including Appellant's discovery response which included the material and labor invoices on this matter which contained 219 pages. A total of 19-20 subpoenas were issued by the Respondent on the subcontractors in this matter requesting they produce the items. This is a summary of the activity in this case. None of that activity related to the issues that were presented by the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss which dealt with proper service on the Respondents.

The only time there was any discussion in regards to the alleged untimely nature of Notice of Mechanic's Lien being filed and the service of the Respondents was in the Appellant's deposition but only covered 3 or 4 pages of that deposition, at the most out of a 210 page deposition. Any attorney's fee awarded should be limited to any time that was spent only on the issue of the proper service on the Respondents and the timeliness of filing of the mechanic's lien which Appellant's position is that matter was not presented to the Court for consideration by the Respondents. The discovery in this case and the subpoenas and deposition only related to legitimacy of the material and labor invoices and alleged workmanship issues on the built home and not as to the service on Respondents or the filing of the mechanic's lien.

The Order referenced above, failed to specify specific findings as to the factors considered in granting the Respondent attorney's fees in the amount of \$25,000.00. An Order for award of attorney fees must contain specific findings regarding the factors considered in granting the award. *Voelker v. Hillcock*, 288 S.C. 622, 344 S.E.2d 177 (Ct. App. 1986).

ARGUMENT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE IS NO EXTRA CONTRACTUAL WORK DONE BY APPELLANT TO CONFIRM RESPONDENTS OWED APPELLANT \$55,084.33.

GENERAL BACKGROUND

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