**RECEIVED**

**Jul 21 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge  
Walton J. McLeod IV, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001406  
Civil Action No. 2017-CP-32-02204

---

ARM Quality Builders, LLC, d/b/a ARM Quality Builders, . . . . . Appellant,

v.

Joseph A. Golson and Lycia B. Golson and Branch Banking Trust Company, . . . . . Respondents,

AND

Joseph A. Golson and Lycia B. Golson, . . . . . Third-Party Respondents,

v.

Ahmad Mazloom, . . . . . Third-Party Appellant.

---

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

By the time the Motion to Dismiss/Dissolve Mechanic’s Lien was filed on August 15, 2018, Appellants had been on notice of Respondents’ issues with the lien for *more than a year*. The motion itself, which was clearly targeted at the validity of the lien, stated that ARM could not “satisfy the statutory requirement necessary for asserting and claiming a lien . . . .” (R. p. 258.) One of the most notorious statutory requirements for a mechanic’s lien is that it be served and filed within ninety days. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-90. Indeed, that requirement is intertwined in the *same sentence* as the requirement for service discussed above. That specific code section was also cited in an email to the court and opposing counsel prior to the hearing of the motion on September 10, 2018. (R. p. 357.) Under these circumstances, it is unreasonable to suggest that ARM was not on notice of the subject-matter of the motion to dissolve the mechanic’s lien.

In fact, Appellants demonstrated their understanding of the matter in contest by addressing the timeliness of the lien in their brief, submitted to the court before the hearing. ARM stated that it’s lien “was [filed] within the ninety (90) day period as required by the statute.” (R. p. 361, ¶ 2.) ARM cited to a “material invoice indicating that material was provided to the project as late as February 16, 2017.” (R. p. 361, ¶ 2 (citation to bates label omitted).) ARM attached the purported material invoices in support of its brief. (R. Supp. pp. 1793–95.) ARM then went on to argue directly on the merits of the timeliness issue during the motion hearing September 10, 2018 without

ever once suggesting that it was not on notice of the issue of timeliness. (*See* R. p. 439, ll. 12–23 (counsel opening his argument with a discussion of timeliness on the merits).) ARM’s failure to raise this notice issue at the hearing suggests both that it had sufficient notice and that the issue is waived under appellate preservation rules. *See Bank of New York v. Sumter Cty.*, 387 S.C. 147, 159, 691 S.E.2d 473, 479 (2010) (citing *Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 608 S.E.2d 849 (2005)) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion.”).

In order to review all perspectives, the lower court specifically asked each party to submit a proposed order including their own view of the issues. (*See* R. p. 451, l. 24-p. 452, l. 1 (“... I’m considering each person’s proposed order independently and [I’m giving] you an opportunity to critique, respond, say anything you want about the other’s proposal.”).) ARM submitted its proposed order by email on September 21, 2018. (R. p. 10.) ARM’s proposed order contained no reference to any lack of notice of the grounds for Respondents’ motion, but rather squarely addressed the ninety-day issue. (*See* R. pp. 12–14.) Indeed, even if notice before the hearing was somehow limited, which is denied, the lower court gave all parties a chance to provide further evidence and argument after the hearing, including, but not limited to, the proposed orders. These additional opportunities to be heard remedy any short notice. *See Ross v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 328 S.C. 51, 67, 492 S.E.2d 62, 71 (1997) (noting that a procedural due process issue may be cured by subsequent opportunities to be heard). ARM took advantage of that opportunity by drafting a letter to Judge Newman dated October 9, 2018. This letter, provided approximately one month after the motion hearing, appears to be the first time the issue of notice was raised by ARM. (*See* R. p. 1768.) All of these chances to provide further argument were in addition to the opportunity to file a motion for reconsideration, which ARM also did. (*See* R. Supp. 1828–33.)

Even assuming *arguendo* that ARM did raise the issue at the motion hearing and was given short notice, it can show no prejudice. In a 1992 case, our Supreme Court found in favor of a party that did not receive timely notice of a motion hearing. *See Dedes v. Strickland*, 307 S.C. 152, 155, 414 S.E.2d 132, 134 (1992). However, before ruling in the complaining party’s favor, the Supreme Court first found prejudice because the party was “wrongfully denied the opportunity to submit affidavits, documents or testimony opposing respondent’s motion for summary judgment, and that the rights of the appellant were prejudiced thereby.” *Id.* In this case, there was no prejudice. ARM was allowed to argue, to present evidence, to submit affidavits, to brief the issues, to submit a proposed order, to critique opposing counsel’s proposed order, and to file a motion for reconsideration.

Under such circumstances, no prejudice against ARM could be found. ARM has not made an argument that the lower court’s ruling was in error on the merits of the timeliness issue, because it cannot. ARM failed to raise the issue of notice at the motion hearing, which prevents preservation of the issue on appeal. ARM had sufficient notice of the issues raised by the motion based on the pleadings of the Golson’s and the motion itself. ARM tacitly acknowledged this notice by squarely addressing the ninety-day issue at the top of its argument at the motion hearing. Lastly, ARM had every opportunity to provide any other information or arguments it believed were necessary to the court. For all these reasons, Judge Newman rightly ruled on the issue of timeliness, secondary to lack of service, and rightly ruled that ARM failed to serve and file its lien within the deadline set by statute.

### **III. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY AWARDED ATTORNEY’S FEES AS A RESULT OF ITS DISMISSAL OF THE MECHANIC’S LIEN.**

ARM filed a mechanic’s lien riddled with issues. The mechanic’s lien had not been properly served; it had not been timely filed; and it claimed funds not duly owed. The Golsons

ultimately prevailed in dissolving the mechanic's lien on the first two grounds; however, the Golsons diligently prepared their case so that if the court determined that the lien was viable, they could still contest the validity of the costs claimed. Under statutory and case law, the Golsons are entitled to payment of their attorney's fees for all of this work as the prevailing parties. Now, Appellants seek to avoid those fees based on a myopic interpretation of the law.

Initially, Respondents note that ARM failed to preserve the issue of whether the Golsons are prevailing parties for this Court's review. Appellants cannot now criticize the lower court's decision to award fees to the Golsons; they can only argue the amount. On November 27, 2018, Judge Newman entered an order determining that the Golsons are entitled to an award of attorney's fees because they are the prevailing party. (R. pp. 71–73.) The court made the specific determination that an award must be made; the court held over only the question of the reasonableness and amount of fees so that the parties could submit additional information on that point. (*See* R. p. 73.)

On December 7, 2018, Appellants filed a motion to reconsider the court's November order. That motion addresses only the ninety-day timeliness issue and the service issue. (*See* R. Supp. Pp. 1829–33.) Nowhere in the motion do Appellants contend that an award of attorney's fees to the prevailing parties is incorrect based on a "mere technicality" or any other theory. Indeed, even in Appellants' October 9, 2018 letter to the lower court, Appellants only contend that the amount of fees should be considered in light of the other causes of action in the case, not whether there should be no award.<sup>7</sup> (R. p. 1771.) For this reason, the issue of whether there should be an award (or whether the Golsons are prevailing parties) is not preserved for review.

---

<sup>7</sup> The letter also briefly asserts that the issue of fees was not addressed at the motion hearing on September 10, 2018. (R. p. 1771.) However, the transcript of the hearing includes counsel for Respondents' assertion that fees should be awarded under the relevant mechanic's lien statute and

ARM raised the issue of whether the Golsons were prevailing parties for the first time on December 20, 2018, in its “Brief on Attorney’s Fees.” (*See generally* R. pp. 382–84.) If this issue is properly preserved, the lower court should be affirmed. The Golsons are prevailing parties entitled as a matter of law to an award of attorney’s fees. The Golsons successfully defended against a mechanic’s lien being prosecuted against them despite the fact that it failed as a matter of law. Unfortunately, it took a great deal of effort to gain the information necessary to show that ARM had failed to properly serve the lien, to timely file the lien, or to correctly support the lien with valid documentation. The dissolution of the lien was on no “mere technicality;” the dissolution occurred because the lien was shown to fail as a matter of law once the full facts were gathered.

Section 29-5-10(a) mandates the award of costs, including reasonable attorney’s fees, to the prevailing party who sought to enforce or defend a lien. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-10(a); *see also T.W. Morton Builders, Inc. v. von Buedingen*, 316 S.C. 388, 400, 450 S.E.2d 87, 94 (Ct. App. 1994) (holding that despite use of the word “may” the award is mandatory); *Cedar Creek Properties v. Cantelou Assocs., Inc.*, 320 S.C. 483, 486–87, 465 S.E.2d 774, 776 (Ct. App. 1995) (restating the holding in *T.W. Morton*).

The prevailing party is still entitled to the mandatory award when the lien is dismissed, dissolved, or even withdrawn. *See Keeney’s Metal Roofing, Inc. v. Palmieri*, 345 S.C. 550, 553–55, 548 S.E.2d 900, 902–03 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding prevailing party entitled to fees after succeeding on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion and reciting other such awards). The *Keeney’s* case catalogues numerous circumstances where fees were properly awarded including the *Cedar Creek*

---

reflect that an affidavit of attorney’s fees had been filed. (R. p. 438, l. 20–p. 439, l. 8; *see also* p. 443, ll. 6–7 (“The award of attorney’s fees is also statutory.”).)

case where the claimant who filed the lien ultimately withdrew the lien voluntarily. *Id.* at 554, 548 S.E.2d at 902 (citing *Cedar Creek*, at 486, 465 S.E.2d at 776). In that case, the Court reasoned that even though the lien was eventually cancelled, the property owners were still the prevailing parties because they had to seek judicial review of the lien and otherwise defend against its cloud on their title before the lien was voluntarily withdrawn. *See Cedar Creek*, at 486, 465 S.E.2d at 776. In a footnote, this Court recognized that to hold otherwise, and disregard the award of fees, would allow a party to file frivolous liens and cloud title without the possibility of real consequences so long as the lien was withdrawn prior to trial. *Id.* at 486 n.1, 465 S.E.2d at 776 n.1.

Although the *Keeney's* case does recognize a “mere technicality” argument, it does not find that dismissal as a matter of law falls under that standard. *Keeney's*, at 555, 548 S.E.2d at 902–03. Indeed, the case law supports the award of fees to the prevailing parties and does not suggest that circumstances like those in this case could ever be attributed to just “mere technicality.” *See, e.g., EFCO Corp. v. Renaissance on Charleston Harbor, LLC*, 370 S.C. 612, 619–20, 635 S.E.2d 922, 926 (Ct. App. 2006) (affirming award on motion finding that lien foreclosure action was not timely filed); *Utilities Const. Co. v. Wilson*, 321 S.C. 244, 249–50, 468 S.E.2d 1, 3–4 (Ct. App. 1996) (awarding fees after lien claimant failed as a matter of law to prove its right to foreclose). Respondents have not located a single appellate case where an award was denied based on “mere technicality.”

In this case, there is no “mere technicality.” Appellants lost the motion to dissolve and dismiss the lien as a matter of law because ARM failed to properly serve the lien, failed to get a sheriff’s affidavit, and failed to timely serve and file the lien. Appellants sought to enforce the lien for more than a year and never withdrew it despite evident deficiencies. In order to dissolve the lien, Respondents had to seek a judicial determination. Judge Newman ultimately determined

that the lien failed as a matter of law. All of these circumstances meet or exceed the standard for the award of fees to a prevailing party in S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-10(a) and in our case law. Indeed, the circumstances in this case are exactly those the Legislature has sought to remedy with the award of fees. *Utilities Const. Co.*, at 248, 468 S.E.2d at 2–3 (“ . . . we recently held the Legislature also intended to afford a property owner a remedy where a mechanic attempts to enforce a defective or wrongful mechanic’s lien”). Under our statutes, case law, and public policy, the Golsons are prevailing parties entitled to an award of fees for winning their motion to dissolve the lien claimant’s cloud on their property title.

Appellants next attack the amount of fees awarded as being outside of the of the dissolution of the lien. This argument takes an incorrect view of Respondents’ work on this case. For Appellants to succeed on this argument they must show that Judge Newman’s award was an abuse of discretion. However, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in awarding \$25,000.00 in fees to Respondents. Case law provides that the “determination as to the amount of attorney’s fees that should be awarded under the mechanics lien statute is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court.” *Zepa Const., Inc v. Randazzo*, 357 S.C. 32, 40, 591 S.E.2d 29, 33 (Ct. App. 2004) (quoting *Keeney’s* at 553, 548 S.E.2d at 901) (internal punctuation omitted). “The court’s decision regarding such a matter will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion.” *Id.* In this case, the lower court carefully considered the amount of fees requested, including reviewing affidavits and separate briefing on the issue. (*See generally* R. pp. 265–67; pp. 304–06; pp. 315–21; pp. 382–86; and pp. 390–401.) After specifically reviewing those submissions and the fee transaction report submitted *in camera*, the lower court made its award separate and subsequent to its original determination that an award should be entered. (*See* R. pp. 76–78.) A further motion to reconsider exclusively about the fee amount was also considered and denied. (*See* R. pp. 419–20; pp. 79–80.)

In setting the amount of fees, Judge Newman rightly considered the significant work Respondents' counsel performed in defending and preparing to defend against the mechanic's lien on multiple grounds. Appellants' contention is that the court erred in "awarding attorney's fees for work done outside the scope of defending against the mechanic's lien." (In. App. Br. at p. 10.) Appellants cite to the traditional six factors our courts consider for purposes of attorney's fee awards: (1) nature, extent, and difficulty of the legal services rendered; (2) time and labor devoted to the case; (3) professional standing of counsel; (4) contingency of compensation; (5) fee customarily charged in the locality for similar services; and (6) beneficial results obtained. *Seabrook Island Prop. Owners' Ass'n v. Berger*, 365 S.C. 234, 240, 616 S.E.2d 431, 434–35 (Ct. App. 2005) (citations omitted); *see also EFCO Corp.*, at 621, 635 S.E.2d at 926 (citing *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 308, 486 S.E.2d 750, 760 (1997) (stating the same factors in a mechanic's lien context with slight variation in phrasing). Appellants do not specify under which factors they believe the lower court erred. For purposes of this argument, Respondents assume the factors at issue are the nature or extent of the services rendered and the time and labor devoted to defending the lien.<sup>8</sup>

Two cases are instructive in analyzing the scope of the attorney's fee award mandated by the mechanic's lien statute. In the first case, this Court remanded a case for a determination of the actual fees related to work on mechanic's lien where the lower court made an award of "total fee for services rendered through trial." *Utilities Const. Co.*, at 250, 468 S.E.2d at 4 (internal punctuation omitted). The award in that case is distinguishable from the one at bar. In this case,

---

<sup>8</sup> To the extent Appellants intended to put forth any other arguments related to these factors, such as objections related to customary rates or the professional standing of counsel, Respondents would assert those arguments are unpreserved as not having been raised to and ruled on by the court below. *See Pye v. Est. of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006) (citations omitted).

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